

# Internationalizing the Curriculum and Campus

# Bibliography: Internationalizing Higher Education

## Global Programs and Strategy Alliance, University of Minnesota

Updated: January 2013. Compiled by C. Parcells, M.K. O'Brien, and G. Woodruff For more information, contact Gayle Woodruff, gwoodruf@umn.edu

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Education Abroad and International Exchange	1
Faculty Development	2
Global Competence/Intercultural Competency	3
Innovation and Reform in International Education	3
International Cooperation and Competition	4
International Education Policy and Policy Development	4
International Students and Scholars	5
Internationalization at Home	6
Non-U.S. Internationalization Strategies	6
Internationalizing Academic Disciplines	7
Internationalizing the Curriculum/Curriculum Integration of Study Abroad	9
Leadership in International Education	10
Reports, Evaluation and Assessment of International Education	10
Strategies, Best Practices, and Models of Internationalization	. 11
Student Development	
Tensions and Challenges in the Field	13



UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA

#### **Education Abroad and International Exchange**

- Alsup, R., & Egginton, E. (2001). *Major obstacles and best practices in international educational exchanges*. Washington DC: National Association of State Universities and Land-Grant Colleges.
- American Council on Education. (1997). *Guidelines for college and university linkages abroad.* Washington DC: Author.
- \*Anderson, L.C. (ed.). (2005, August). *Internationalizing undergraduate education: Integrating study abroad into the curriculum*. Minneapolis, MN: The Learning Abroad Center, University of Minnesota.
- \*Brewer, E. (2004). *From Student Mobility to internationalization at home*. Paper presented at the conference on "New directions in international education: Building context, connections, and knowledge." Beloit College. October 29-30, 2004.
- \*Brockington, J. (2005). Bringing the international home: Rethinking the role of study abroad in institutional internationalization. Retrieved February 26, 2007 from http://www.iienetwork.org/?p=47441
- Christoffersen, J. (2006). *Yale shakes up MBA program by requiring study abroad*. Retrieved March 5, 2007 from <u>http://www.boston.com/news/education/higher/articles/2006/12/22/yale shakes up mba progra</u> m/
- Connell, C. (2005). Home on the prairie and abroad. International Educator, 14(6).
- Craig, S. (1998). Global study: Reflecting the norms of an international society. *The Black Collegian*, 28(2). 138-142.
- Dalichow, F. & Adelman, A. (1995). Credit transfer schemes build mutual trust and confidence in multilateral student exchange. International Educator, 4(2).
- Dessoff, A. (2006). Who's NOT going abroad? International Educator, 15(2), 20.
- Hulstrand, J. (2006). Education abroad on the fast track. International Educator, 15(3), 46.
- Institute of International Education. (2009). *Meeting America's global education challenge: Expanding study abroad capacity at U.S. colleges and universities*. IIE Study Abroad White Paper Series, Issue 6. New York, NY: Author.
- J. Walter Thompson Education. (2006). An exploration of the demand for study overseas from American students and employers. Retrieved March 5, 2007 from http://www.nafsa.org/ /File/ /study by iie daad bc.pdf
- Keillor, B. & Emore, J. (2003). The structure and process of curriculum integration in study abroad programs: the University of Akron international business model. In S. Cavusgil, G. Hult & E. Lashbrooke (Eds), *Study abroad: Perspectives and experiences from business schools* (p. 227). Elsevier Science Ltd.
- Klahr, S. & Umberto, R. (2000). Increasing engineering student participation in study abroad: A study of US and European programs. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 4(1), 79.
- Lambert, R. (1989). *International studies and the undergraduate*. Washington DC: American Council on Education.
- McBurnie, G. & Ziguras, C. (2005). *The international branch campus*. Retrieved February 26, 2007 from http://www.iienetwork.org/page/102097/
- NAFSA: Association of International Educators. (2008). *Strengthening Study Abroad: Recommendations* for effective institutional management for presidents, senior administrators, and study abroad professionals. Retrieved from www.nafsa.org.
- Praetzel, G., Curcio, J. & Dilorenzo, J. (1996). Making study abroad a reality for all students. International Advances in Economic Research, 2(2), 174-182.
- Roochnik, D. (2001). What direction for study abroad? First, look homeward. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. Retrieved February 23, 2007 from <u>http://chronicle.com/article/First-Look-Homeward/31162</u>
- Russo, A. & Sans, A. (2009). Student communities and landscapes of creativity: How Venice "The World's most touristed city' is changing. *European Urban and Regional Studies, 16*(2). 161-175.

- Salisbury, M., Umbach, P., Paulsen, M. & Pascarella, E. (2008). Going global: Understanding the choice process of the intent to study abroad. *Restructuring Higher Education*, *50*, 119-143.
- Sanford, J. (2002). From nursing in Croatia to ecology in Thailand: Global campus widens possibilities for study abroad. Retrieved March 5, 2007 from http://www1.umn.edu/urelate/kiosk/1102kiosk/abroad.html
- \*Sideli, K., Rubin, D., Sutton, R., & Vande Berg, M. (2001). Assessing student learning outcomes from study abroad. *International Educator*, 10(2), 30.
- Swaray, E. (2004, April 14). U expo to showcase study abroad options. The Minnesota Daily, p 36.
- Turlington, B., Collins, N. & Porcelli, M. (2002). Where credit is due: Approaches to course and credit recognition across borders in U.S. higher education institutions. Washington DC: American Council on Education.
- Watabe, Yuki. *Executive summary on the program selection evaluation: Analysis on the Learning Abroad center's service in assisting students with selecting study abroad programs.*
- \*Zeimis, N. (2006). *The intersection of academic advising, study abroad, and career development at the University of MN*. Retrieved February 26, 2007 from http://www.umabroad.umn.edu/ci/docs/resources/zeimis.pdf

#### **Faculty Development**

- Green, M. & Purser, L. (2000). Faculty of the future: A transatlantic dialogue. Washington DC: American Council on Education.
- Green, M. & Shoenberg, R. (2006). *Where faculty live: Internationalizing the disciplines*. Washington DC: American Council on Education.
- Hamza, A. (2010). International experience: An opportunity for professional development in higher education. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 14(1), 50-69.
- \* Leask, B. (2012). Internationalisation of the curriculum in action: A guide. Australian Government Office for Teaching and Learning; University of South Australia. Retrieved on-line January 31, 2013:<u>http://www.ioc.net.au/main/file.php/2/V2\_Internationalisation\_of\_curriculum\_6pg\_Brochur</u> e\_Final.pdf
- \*McNicoll, Y., Burney, S. & Luff, A. (2008). Enhancing faculty culture to meet student needs: Internationalising the curriculum. Retrieved September 15, 2009 from http://www.auqa.edu.au/auqf/pastfora/2008/program/day3.htm
- Oberst, B. (1999). A decade of experience: Data from the Council on International Educational Exchange's international faculty development seminars. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 3(2), 73.
- Peterson, P.M. (2000). The worthy goal of a worldly faculty. Peer Review 3(1).

Sanderson, G. (2008). A foundation for the internationalization of the academic self. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 12(3), 276-307.

- Sanderson, G. (2009). *The secret lives of internationalized lecturers; a detective's story*. A paper presented at the CICIN conference "Internationalising the home student." Oxford Brookes University, UK. June 19, 2009.
- Sandgren, D., Nick, E., Hovde, P., Krejci, M. & Rice, M. (1999). How international experience affects teaching: Understanding the impact of faculty study abroad. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *3*(*1*), 33.
- Schmidt, P. (2009, June 12). U.S. faculty members feel a lack of clout, international survey finds. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. Retrieved from http://chronicle.com/daily/2009/06/19931n.htm
- Stohl, M. (2007). We have met the enemy and he is us: The role of the faculty in the internationalization of higher education in the coming decade. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 11 (3/4), 359-372.

#### **Global Competence/Intercultural Competency**

- American Council on Education. (1997). *Educating for global competence: America's passport to the future*. Washington DC: Author.
- Association of American Colleges and Universities. (2006). *How should colleges prepare students to succeed in today's global economy?* Retrieved March 5, 2007 from http://www.nafsa.org/ /File/ /how should colleges prepare.pdf
- Barker, C. (2000). *Education for international understanding and global competence*. New York, NY: Carnegie Corporation of New York.
- Brunstein, W. (2006). Paths to global competence: Preparing American college students to meet the world. *IIE Networker Magazine, Spring*, 23-25.
- \*Deardorf, D. (2006). Identification and assessment of intercultural competence as a student outcome of internationalization. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *10(3)*, 241-266.
- Fernando, R. (2009). Global Competency' Is Imperative for Global Success. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, 1/30/2009, Vol. 55, Issue 21
- Gunesch, K. (2004). Education for cosmopolitanism? Cosmopolitanism as a personal cultural identity model for and within international education. *Journal of Research in International Education*, 3(3), 251-275.
- Hoemeke, T. (1990). Education for international competence and competitiveness: The Texas response. International Education Forum, 10(2), 74.
- Hunter, W. (2004, Spring). Got Global competency? International Educator, 3, 6-12.
- Hunter, W., White, G., & Godbey, G. (2006). What does it mean to be globally competent? *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *10*(*3*), 267-285.
- Jones, E. (2007). International reflections and culture change. In S. Brown & E. Jones (Eds.), *Internationalising higher education* (pp. 55-41). Education Oxon, Routledge.
- \*Mayo, M., Gaventa, J., & Rooke, A. (2009). Learning global citizenship?: Exploring connections between the local and the global. *Education, Citizenship and Social Justice, 4(2),* 161-175.
- National Education Association (2010). Global competence is a 21<sup>st</sup> century imperative. Retrieved April 23, 2010 from http://www.nea.org/assets/docs/PB28 GlobalCompetence.pdf
- Scorza, J. Teaching global competence: The paradox of competency and power. Prepared for the 2004 Annual Meeting of the American Political Science Association, Chicago, IL, September 2 September 6, 2004.
- Willard, J. (2006). *What is global competency?* Retrieved March 5, 2007 from http://www.nafsa.org/ /File/ /global competency 2.pdf

#### **Innovation and Reform in International Education**

- Arum, S. (1993). Innovations. International Education Forum, 13. 53.
- Bode, C. (2006). *Innovation through internationalization*. Keynote address from the opening ceremony of the Paderborn Institute for Advanced Studies in Computer Science and Engineering, December 8, 2006. Retrieved from http://www.daad.de/presse/de/bode\_opening-pace\_dec06.pdf
- Eskew, M. (2005). *Education in an age of globalization*. Speech presented at the States Institute on International Education in the Schools, Washington DC. December 8, 2005.
- Hudzik, J. (2009). Reshaping international education. International Educator, May-June, 4-6.
- Institute of International Education. (2006). Andrew Heiskell awards for innovation in international education category: Internationalizing the campus. Winner 2006: George Mason University. Retrieved February 26, 2007 from http://www.iienetwork.org/?p=72318
- Institute of International Education. (2005). Andrew Heiskell awards for innovation in international education category: Internationalizing the campus. Winner 2006: Santa Fe community college. Retrieved February 26, 2007 from http://www.iienetwork.org/?p=55112
- Kellogg Commission on the Future of State and Land-Grant Universities. (1999). *Returning to our Roots: The engaged institution.* Author.
- Labi, A. (2009). Global survey finds shifts in universities' internationalization priorities. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, 56(6).

- Lee, W.O. (2008). The repositioning of higher education from its expanded visions: Lifelong learning, entrepreneurship, internationalization and integration. *Educational Research, Policy, and Practice,* 7, 73-83.
- Mestenhauser, J. & Ellingboe, B. (Eds.). (1998). *Reforming the higher education curriculum: Internationalizing the campus.* Phoenix, AZ: American Council on Education/Oryx Press series on Higher Education.
- Stevens, M. (2009). Academic internationalism: U.S. universities in transition. A report on consultations convened at the Social Science Research Council, New York, NY. October 14 and 17, 2008.
- Van der Wende, M. (1999). An innovation perspective on internationalization of higher education institutionalization: The critical phase. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 3(1), 3-14.
- Van Gyn, G., Schuerholz-Lehr, S., Caws, C., & Preece, A. (2009). Education for world-mindedness: Beyond the superficial notions of internationalization. New Directions for Teaching and Learning, 118 (Summer), 25-38.
- Young, A. (2005). Internationalizing the campus at Centenary College: An innovative approach to international cultural exchange. Retrieved February 26, 2007 from http://www.iienetwork.org/?p=79999

#### **International Cooperation and Competition**

- Charlier, J.E. & Croché, S. (2008). The Bologna process: The outcome of competition between Europe and the United States and stimulus to this competition. *European Education 39(4)*, 10-26.
- \* Mestenhauser, J.A. (2011). *Reflections on the past, present, and future of internationalizing higher education: Discovering opportunities to meet challenges.* Minneapolis, MN: Global Programs and Strategy Alliance, University of Minnesota.
- \*NAFSA: Association of International Educators. (2006). *Enhancing U.S. leadership, security, and competitiveness through international education*. Retrieved March 5, 2007 from <a href="http://www.nafsa.org/publication.sec/periodicals/policybriefs/pb-vol1-1/#event3">http://www.nafsa.org/publication.sec/periodicals/policybriefs/pb-vol1-1/#event3</a>
- NAFSA: Association of International Educators. (2006). *The economic benefits of international education to the United States for the 2005-2006 academic year: A statistical analysis.* Retrieved March 5, 2007 from <a href="http://www.nafsa.org//File//eis2006/Washington.pdf">http://www.nafsa.org//File//eis2006/Washington.pdf</a>
- Sternberger, L. (2005). Partnering for success. International Educator, 14(4), 12.
- \* Wetsch, J. (2005). A global response to global issues: Partnering with universities worldwide to build cooperation and train future leaders. Readers February 26, 2007 from http://www.iienetwork.org/?p=79997

#### **International Education Policy and Policy Development**

- American Council on Education. (2002). *Beyond September 11: A comprehensive national policy on international education*. Washington DC: Author.
- Asia Society. (2005). *States prepare for the global age*. Retrieved March 5, 2007 from http://internationaled.org/statespreparefortheglobalage.pdf
- Bok, P. (Ed). (1995). *Policy and policy implementation in internationalization of higher education*. Amsterdam: European Association for International Education.
- Bollag, B. (2007). *Coalition of diverse groups call for a more open U.S. visa policy*. Retrieved March 5, 2007 from http://chronicle.com/weekly/v53/i23/23a03902.htm
- Heinze, T & Knill, C. (2008). Analysing the differential impact of the Bologna process: Theoretical considerations on national conditions for international policy convergence. *Higher Education*, 56(4), 493-510.
- \*Kalvemark, T. & van der Wende, M. (Eds.). (1997). *National policies for the internationalization of higher education in Europe*. Stockholm: National Agency for Higher Education.

- \*McLellan, C. (2008). Speaking of internationalisation: An analysis policy of discourses on internationalization of higher education in post-apartheid South Africa. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 12(2), 131-147.
- Merkur'ev, S. (1991). Implications of internationalization for the university. *American Behavioral Scientist, 35(1),* 43.
- \* Mestenhauser, J.A. (2011). *Reflections on the past, present, and future of internationalizing higher education: Discovering opportunities to meet challenges.* Minneapolis, MN: Global Programs and Strategy Alliance, University of Minnesota.
- NAFSA: Association of International Educators. (2000). *Toward an international education policy for the United States: A white paper for the president-elect's transition term.* Retrieved November 10, 2008 from <u>http://www.globaled.us/now/fullstatementnafsa.html</u>
- Van der Wende, M. (2001). Internationalization policies: About new trends and contrasting paradigms. *Higher Education Policy*, *14*, 249.
- \*Vidovich, L. (2004). Towards internationalizing the curriculum in a context of globalization: comparing policy processes in two settings. *Compare*, *34(4)*, 443-461.
- Young, R. (2003). Aftereffect of 9-11: A call to balance patriotism and multiculturalism in the classroom. *Multicultural Perspectives*, *5*(2), 34-38.

#### **International Students and Scholars**

- Arkoudis, S., Yu, X., Baik, C., Borland, H., Chang, S., Lang, I., Lang, J., Pearce, A., & Watty, K. (2010).
  *Finding common ground: Enhancing interaction between domestic and international students.* Mebourne, Australia: Australian Learning & Teaching Council.
- Arkoudis, S., Baik, C., Marginson, S., & Cassidy. E. (2012). Internationalising the student experience in Australian tertiary education: Developing criteria and indicators. Center for the Study of Higher Education (University of Melbourne): Author. Retrieved on-line May 1, 2012 at http://www.cshe.unimelb.edu.au/research/internationalisation/docs/Janu 2012AEI indicators.pdf.
- Grimshaw, T. (2007). 'Problematizing' the construct of the Chinese learner: Insights from ethnographic research. *Educational Studies 33(3)*, p. 299-311.
- Gu, Q., Schweisfurth, M. & Day, C. (2010). Learning and growing in a 'foreign' context: Intercultural experiences of international students. *Compare*, 40(1), 7-23.
- Kingston, E., & Forland, H. (2008). Bridging the gap in the expectations between international students and academic staff. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 12(2), 204-221.
- Leask, B. (2004). Internationalisation outcomes for all students using information and communication technologies (ICTs). *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 8(4), 336-351.
- Leask, B. (2009). Using formal and informal curricula to improve interactions between home and international students. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 13(2), 205-221.
- Leask, B. (2011). Internationalisation of the curriculum in action. The Australian Learning and Teaching Council: Author.
- Peacock, N. & Harrison, N. (2009). "It's so much easier to go with what's easy": "Mindfulness" and the discourse between home and international students in the United Kingdom. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 13(4), 487-508.
- Roberts, A., Chou, P., & Ching, G. (2010). Contemporary trends in East Asian higher education: Dispositions of international students in a Taiwan university. *Higher Education*, *59*, 149-166.
- Ryan, J. & Hellmundt, S. (2003). Excellence through diversity: Internationalisation of curriculum and pedagogy. Presented at the 17<sup>th</sup> IDP Australian International Education Conference, October 2003.
- \* Williams, S. (2008). Internationalization of the curriculum: A remedy for international students' academic adjustment difficulties? Retrieved March 18, 2010 from <u>http://web.uvic.ca/~sherriw/practical.htm</u>
- Zhao, C. M., Kuh, G., & Carini, R. (2005). A comparison of international students and American student engagement in effective educational practices. *Journal of Higher Education*, *76(2)*, 209-231.

#### **Internationalization at Home**

- \*Brewer, E. (2004). *From student mobility to internationalization at home*. Paper presented at the conference on "New directions in international education: Building context, connections, and knowledge." Beloit College. October 29-30, 2004.
- \*Brockington, J. (2005). Bringing the international home: Rethinking the role of study abroad in institutional internationalization. Retrieved February 26, 2007 from http://www.iienetwork.org/?p=47441
- Crowther, P., Joris, M., Otten, M., Nilsson, B., Teekens, H. & Wächter, B. (2000). *Internationalisation at home: A position paper*. Amsterdam: European Association for International Education.
- Hoffman, D. (2003). Internationalisation at home from the inside: Non-native faculty and transformation. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 7(1), 77-93.
- Mestenhauser, J. (2003, Summer). Building bridges. International Educator, 6-11.
- Nilsson, B. & Otten, M. (2003). Editorial. Journal of Studies in International Education, 7(1), 3-4.
- Nilsson, B. (2001). *Internationalisation at home-theory and praxis*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.eaie.org/pdf/intathome.asp</u>
- Wächter, B. (2003). An introduction: Internationalization at home in context. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 7(1).

#### **Non-U.S. Internationalization Strategies**

- De Wit, H. (1995). Strategies for internationalization of higher education: A comparative study of Australia, Canada, Europe and the United States of America. Amsterdam: European Association for International Education.
- \*De Wit, H. (2002). *Internationalization of higher education in the United States and Europe*. Westport, CT: Greenwood Press.
- Francis, A. (1993). Facing the future: The internationalization of post-secondary institutions in British Columbia. Vancouver: British Columbia Centre for International Education.
- \*Holterman, S. (1996). Strategies for internationalization of higher education: A case study—the Nordic Centre at Fudan University, Shanghai, China. *Higher Education Policy*, *9*, 329.
- \*Horie, M. (2002). The internationalization of higher education in Japan in the 1990s: A reconsideration. *Higher Education, 43,* 65-84.
- Huang, F. (2009). Internationalization of the academic profession in Japan: A quantitative perspective. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 13(2), 143-158.
- \*Kalvemark, T. & van der Wende, M. (Eds.). (1997). *National policies for the internationalization of higher education in Europe*. Stockholm: National Agency for Higher Education.
- Kawaguchi, A. & Lander, D. (1997). Internationalization in practice at Japanese universities. *Higher Education Policy*, 10(2), 103.
- Kehm, B. & Teichler, U. (2007). Research on internationalisation in higher education. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *11(3/4)*, 260-273.
- Knight, J. (1996). *Internationalization of higher education: A shared vision*. Ottawa: Canadian Bureau for International Education.
- Knight, J. (1994). *The internationalization of Canadian universities*. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Michigan State University.
- Knight, J. (1993). Internationalization: Management strategies and issues. *International Education Magazine*, 9, 6.
- Knight, J. & De Wit, H. (Eds.). (1997). *Internationalization of higher education in Asia Pacific countries*. Amsterdam: European Association of International Education.
- Lo, W. Y.W. (2009). Reflections on internationalization of higher education in Taiwan: Persepctives and prospects. *Higher Education*, 58, 733-745.
- McBurnie, G. (2000). Pursuing internationalization as a means to advance the academic mission of the university: An Australian case study. *Higher Education in Europe*, *25(1)*, 63-73.

- McLellan, C. (2008). Speaking of internationalisation: An analysis policy of discourses on internationalization of higher education in post-apartheid South Africa. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 12(2), 131-147.
- Min, W. (1999). Improving the effectiveness of higher education institutions through inter-university cooperation: The case study of Peking University. Paris: International Institute for Educational Planning & UNESCO.
- Mok, K. H. (2009). The growing importance of the privateness in education: challenges for higher education governance in China. *Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education*, 39(1), 35-49.
- Roberts, A., Chou, P., & Ching, G. (2010). Contemporary trends in East Asian higher education: Dispositions of international students in a Taiwan university. *Higher Education*, *59*, 149-166.
- Sall, H. & Ndjaye, B. (2008). Higher education in Africa: Between perspectives opened by the Bologna process and the commodification of education. *European Education*, 39(4), 43-57.
- Sanderson, G. (2009). *The secret lives of internationalized lecturers; a detective's story*. A paper presented at the CICIN conference 'Internationalising the home student,' Oxford Brookes University, UK. June 19, 2009.
- Sanderson, G. (2008). A foundation for the internationalization of the academic self. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 12(3), 276-307.
- Tian, M. & Lowe, J. (2009). Existentialist internationalization and the Chinese student experience in English universities. *Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education*, 39(5), 659-676.

#### **Internationalizing Academic Disciplines**

- Addo, A.O. (2009). Toward internationalizing general music teacher education in a U.S. context. *Journal* of Research in International Education, 8(3), 1-21.
- Advincula-Carpenter, M. M. (1994). Development of a process to internationalize occupational programs in the consumer and hospitality services division. Nova Southeastern University. Report: ED391877. 62p. (Level 1 - Available online, if indexed January 1993 onward).
- American Historical Association. (2008). *Internationalizing student learning outcomes in history*. Report to the American Council on Education. Retrieved 10/11/2009 from http://www.historians.org/teaching/ACE/Taskforcereport.cfm
- American Political Science Association. (2007, January) *Internationalizing the undergraduate curriculum*. Working paper for Symposium. Retrieved 9/15/09 from <u>http://www.apsanet.org/content\_35650.cfm</u>
- Appelbaum, P., Friedler, L., Ortiz, C., & Wolff, E. (2009). Internationalizing the university mathematics curriculum. *Journal of Studies in International Education*. 13(3), 365-381.
- Becher, T. (1989). *Academic tribes and territories: Intellectual enquiry and the culture of disciplines.* Bristole, PA: Society for Research into Higher Education and Open University Press.
- Beck, J., & Young, M. (2005). The assault on the professions and the restructuring of academic and professional identities: A Bernsteinian analysis. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, *26*(2), 183-197.
- Clifford, V. (2009). Engaging the disciplines in internationalizing the curriculum. *International Journal* for Academic Development, 14(2), 133-144.
- Crosling, G., Edwards, R., & Schroder, B. (2008). Internationalizing the curriculum: The implementation experience in a faculty of business and economics. *Journal of Higher Education Policy & Management*, *30(2)*, 107-121.
- Dessoff, A. (2009). Teaching the World. International Educator, May-June, 44-54.
- Downey, G., Lucena, J., Moskal, B., Parkhust, R., Bigley, T., Lehr, J., & Nichols-Belo, A. (2006 April). The globally competent engineer: Working effectively with people who define problems differently. *Journal of Engineering Education*. 1-16.

- Global Foundation for Management Education. (2008). The global management education landscape: Shaping the future of business schools.
- \*Green, M. & Shoenberg, R. (2006). *Where faculty live: Internationalizing the disciplines*. Washington DC: American Council on Education.
- Groennings, S. & Wiley, D.S. (1990). *Group portrait: Internationalizing the disciplines*. New York: The American Forum.
- Hazelton, P., Malone, M., & Gardner, A. (2009). A multicultural, multidisciplinary short course to introduce recently graduated engineers to the global nature of professional practice. *European Journal of Engineering Education*, 34(3), 281-290.
- Hernandez, J., Krueger, T., Robertson, S., Isaza, Greiner, E., Heard, D., Condor-Williams, V. (2009). Education of global veterinarians. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, *92*, 275-283.
- Kashlak, R. (1996). Internationalizing business education: Factors affecting student participation in overseas study programs. *Journal of Teaching in International Business*, 8(2), 57-75.
- Kelly, R. (2009). Leading the way toward collaboration. Academic Leader, 25(5), 7-8.
- Kwok, C. & Arpan, J. (2002). Internationalizing the business school: A global survey in 2000. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 33(3), 571-581.
- Labov, J., Reid, A., & Yamamoto, K. (2010, Spring). Integrated biology and undergraduate science education: A new biology education for the twenty-first century? *CBE—Life Science Education*, *9*, 10-16.
- \*Leask, B. & Bridge, C. (2013). Comparing internationalisation of the curriculum in action across disciplines: Theoretical and practical perspectives. *Compare* 43(1), p. 79-101.
- Lohmann, J., Rollins, H., & Hoey, J. (2006). Defining, developing and assessing global competence in engineers. *European Journal of Engineering Education*, 31(1), 119-131.
- Lucena, J. C. (2006). Globalization and organizational change: Engineers' experiences and their implications for engineering education. *European Journal of Engineering Education*, 31(3), 321-338.
- Ludwig, H. (2006). Shaping university graduate programs in environmental engineering for Century 21. *Environmental Engineering Science*, 23(3), 418-425.
- Lutsky, N., Torney-Purta, J., Velayo, R., Whittlesey, V., Woolf, L., & McCarthy, M. (2005). American Psychological Association working group on internationalizing the undergraduate psychology curriculum: Report and recommended learning outcomes for internationalizing the undergraduate curriculum. Washington DC: American Council on Education.
- Marsella, A. & Pedersen, P. (2004). Internationalizing the counseling psychology curriculum: Towards new values, competencies, and directions. *Counseling Psychology Quarterly*, 17(4), 413-423.
- Michalski, J. (2008). Scientific discovery in deep social space: Sociology without borders. *Canadian Journal of Sociology*, 33(3), 521-553.
- Miller, B. (1999). Literacy of professionals in transnational contexts of practice: The case of the regulated globalized professions in the USA. Journal of Studies in International Education, 3(1), 83-96.
- Moghadam, V. M. (2001). Institutionalizing and globalizing women's studies at Illinois State University. *Gender Issues, 19(2), 5.*
- Ogrean, C., Herciu, M., & Belascu, L. (2009). Competency-based management and global competencies-Challenges for firm strategic management. *International Review of Business Research Papers 5(4)*, 114-122.
- Pace, D. (2007). The internationalization of history teaching through the scholarship of teaching and learning. Creating institutions to unite the efforts of a discipline. *Arts & Humanities in Higher Education.* 6(3), 329-335.
- Pandit, K. (2009). Leading internationalization. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 99(4), 645-656.
- Parshall, K. H. (2009). Marshall Stone and the internationalization of the American mathematical research community. *Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society*, *46(3)*, 459-482.

Shamir, M. (2003). Foreigners within and innocents abroad: Discourse of the self in the internationalization of American studies. *Journal of American Studies*, *37(3)*, 375-388.

- Smith, J. & Tanner, K. (2010, Spring). The problem of revealing how students think: Concept inventories and beyond. *CBE—Life Sciences Education* 9, 1-5.
- Solem, M. & Ray, W. (2005). *Gauging disciplinary support for internationalization: A survey of geographers*. American Association of Geographers report to the America Council on Education.
- Turner-Essel, L., & Waehler, C. (2009). Integrating internationalization in counseling psychology training programs. *Counseling Psychologist*, *37(6)*, 877-901.
- Wang, A. (2006). *IT education in the flattening world*. Paper of proceedings presented at the 7<sup>th</sup> Conference on Information Technology Education, Minneapolis, MN. Retrieved 9/16/09 from http://portal.acm.org/citation.cfm?doid=1168812.1168838
- Vessuri, H. (2001). Introduction: Science and its cultures. *International Social Science Journal*, 53(168), 179-185.

#### Internationalizing the Curriculum/Curriculum Integration of Study Abroad

- Absalom, M. & Vadura, K. (2006). Student perceptions of internationalization of the curriculum: An Australian case study. *Arts and Humanities in Higher Education* 5(3), 317-334.
- \*Anderson, L.C. (ed.). (2005, August). *Internationalizing undergraduate education: Integrating study abroad into the curriculum*. Minneapolis, MN: The Learning Abroad Center, University of Minnesota.
- Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada. (2009, March). *Internationalization of the curriculum: A practical guide to support Canadian universities' efforts*. Retrieved from www.aucc.ca/ pdf/english/publications/curriculum-primer e.pdf
- Bonfiglio, O. (1999). The difficulties of internationalizing the American undergraduate curriculum. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 3(2), 3.
- Burn, B. (Ed). (1991). Integrating study abroad into the undergraduate liberal arts curriculum: Eight institutional case studies. Greenwood Press.
- \*Byrnes, H. (Ed.) (2009). The role of foreign language departments in internationalizing the curriculum. *Modern Language Journal 93(4)*.
- Connell, C. (2006). Engineering for internationalization. International Educator, 15(6).
- Ellingboe, B. (1996). *Divisional strategies on internationalizing the curriculum: A comparative fivecollege case study of deans' and faculty perspectives at the University of Minnesota*. Unpublished Master's Thesis, University of Minnesota, Twin Cities.
- Galvan, J. (2006, January). Practical suggestions to internationalize the general education curriculum. *A Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, 5(1).
- Hanson, L. (2008). Global citizenship, global health, and the internationalization of curriculum: A study of transformative potential. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 14(70), 70-88.
- \* Leask, B. (2012). Internationalisation of the curriculum in action: A guide. Australian Government Office for Teaching and Learning; University of South Australia. Retrieved on-line January 31, 2013:<u>http://www.ioc.net.au/main/file.php/2/V2\_Internationalisation\_of\_curriculum\_6pg\_Brochur</u> e\_Final.pdf
- \*Leask, B. & Bridge, C. (2013). Comparing internationalisation of the curriculum in action across disciplines: Theoretical and practical perspectives. *Compare* 43(1), p. 79-101.
- \*McNicoll, Y., Burney, S. & Luff, A. (2008). Enhancing faculty culture to meet student needs: Internationalising the curriculum. Retrieved September 15, 2009 from http://www.auqa.edu.au/auqf/pastfora/2008/program/day3.htm
- Perkins, R. (2009). Context-oriented instructional design for course transformation. *New Directions for Teaching and Learning*, 118, 85-94.
- Pickert, S. & Turlington, B. (1992). *Internationalizing the undergraduate curriculum: A handbook for campus leaders*. Washington DC: American Council on Education.

- Raby, R. (2007). Internationalizing the curriculum: On- and off-campus strategies. *New Directions for Community Colleges, Summer (138)*, 57-66.
- Rea, L. (2003). Responses and outcomes to international curricula offered off and on campus: Two case studies at Hiram College. *International Education, 32 (2),* 40.
- Schoorman, D. (1999). The pedagogical implications of diverse conceptualizations of internationalization: A US-based case study. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 3(2), 19-46.
- Terregrossa, R., Englander, F., & Englander, V. (2009). The impact of learning styles on achievement in principles of microeconomics: A natural experiment. *College Student Journal*, 43(2). Retrieved 6/25/10 from Academic Search Premier.
- Theobald, R. (2008). Internationalization: Institutions, people, and programmes in Colorado. *Journal of Geography in Higher Education*, 32(2), 205-216.
- \*Van Deusen, B. (2007). Moving beyond marketing study abroad: Comparative case studies of the implementation of the Minnesota Model of Curriculum Integration: A five college report (2006-2007). Unpublished colloquium paper, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis.
- Vidovich, L. (2004). Towards internationalizing the curriculum in a context of globalization: comparing policy processes in two settings. *Compare*, *34(4)*, 443-461
- \* Williams, S. (2008). Internationalization of the curriculum: A remedy for international students' academic adjustment difficulties? Retrieved March 18, 2010 from http://web.uvic.ca/~sherriw/practical.htm
- \*Woodruff, G., Gladding, S., Knutson, M., & Stallman, E. (2005). *A baseline survey of curriculum integration in education abroad: Analysis of data from the forum on education abroad 2003-2004 survey of curriculum integration*. Retrieved February 26, 2007 from http://www.forumea.org/documents/SurveyFinal.pdf

#### **Leadership in International Education**

- Mestenhauser, J. & Ellingboe, B. (2005). Leadership knowledge and international education. *International Educator*, 14(6), 36.
- National Association of State Universities and Land Grant Colleges. (2004). *A call to leadership: The presidential role in internationalizing the university*. Retrieved September 2, 2009 from <a href="http://www.aplu.org/NetCommunity/Document.Doc?id=32">http://www.aplu.org/NetCommunity/Document.Doc?id=32</a>
- \*NAFSA: Association of International Educators. (2006). *Enhancing U.S. leadership, security, and competitiveness through international education*. Retrieved March 5, 2007 from <a href="http://www.nafsa.org/publication.sec/periodicals/policybriefs/pb-vol1-1/#event3">http://www.nafsa.org/publication.sec/periodicals/policybriefs/pb-vol1-1/#event3</a>
- \*Katz, E. (2007). Creating leaders for tomorrow. International Educator, 16(1), 44-48.
- \*Wetsch, J. (2005). A global response to global issues: Partnering with universities worldwide to build cooperation and train future leaders. Retrieved February 26, 2007 from http://www.iienetwork.org/?p=79997.
- Wood, V. (2005). Globalization and higher education: Eight common perceptions from university leaders. Retrieved February 26, 2007 from http://www.iienetwork.org/page/84658/

#### **Reports, Evaluation & Assessment of Internationalization**

- American Council on Education. (2005). *Internationalization in U.S. higher education: The student perspective*. Washington DC: Author.
- Barrows, L. (Ed). (2000). Internationalization of higher education: An institutional perspective. Bucharest: European center for Higher Education, United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO).
- Braskamp, L. (2009). Internationalizing a campus: A framework for assessing its progress. *Journal of College & Character*, 10(7), 1-8.

- \*Deardorf, D. (2006). Identification and assessment of intercultural competence as a student outcome of internationalization. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *10(3)*, 241-266.
- Green, M. (2005). *Measuring internationalization at community colleges*. Washington DC: American Council on Education.
- Green, M. (2005). *Measuring internationalization at liberal arts colleges*. Washington DC: American Council on Education.
- Green, M. (2005). *Measuring internationalization at research universities*. Washington DC: American Council on Education.
- Hayward, F. (2000). *Internationalization of U.S. higher education: Preliminary status report.* Washington DC: American Council on Education.
- Hayward, F. (2001). Public experience, attitudes, and knowledge: A report on two national surveys about international education. Washington DC: American Council on Education.
- Jang, J.Y. (2009). Analysis of the relationship between internationalization and the quality of higher education. Dissertation, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN.
- NAFSA: Association of International Educators. (2006). *Internationalizing the campus report 2006*. Washington DC: Author.
- NAFSA: Association of International Educators. (2005). *Internationalizing the campus report 2005*. Washington DC: Author.
- NAFSA: Association of International Educators. (2004). *Internationalizing the campus report 2004*. Washington DC: Author.
- NAFSA: Association of International Educators. (2003). *Internationalizing the campus report 2003*. Washington DC: Author.
- National Intelligence Council (2000). *Global trends 2015: A dialogue about the future with non government experts*. Retrieved September 2, 2009 from http://www.dni.gov/nic/NIC globaltrend2015.html
- Siaya, L. & Hayward, F. (2003). *Mapping internationalization on U.S. campuses: Final report.* Washington DC: American Council on Education.
- \*Sideli, K., Rubin, D., Sutton, R., & Vande Berg, M. (2001). Assessing student learning outcomes from study abroad. *International Educator*, 10(2), 30.
- Wangen, R. (1991). Model learner outcomes for international education. Minnesota State Dept. of Education. St Paul, MN. Retrieved November 7, 2008 from ERIC online database.

#### Strategies, Best Practices, and Models of Internationalization

- Aigner, J., Nelson, P., & Stimpfl, J. (1992). *Internationalizing the university: Making it work*. Springfield: CBIS Federal.
- American Council on Education. (1995). *Educating Americans for a world in flux: Ten ground rules for internationalizing higher education*. Washington DC: Author.
- Bartell, M. (2003). Internationalization of universities: A university culture-based framework. *Higher Education, 45,* 43.
- Bowman, K. (1990). A strategy for internationalization: The University of Oregon. *International Education Forum, (Spring)*, 9.
- Burr, P. (2005). *Promising practices for internationalizing the campus*. Retrieved February 26, 2007 from http://www.iienetwork.org/?p=79992
- Carmical, B. (2002). Internationalizing the campus: What do you need to know? *New directions for Higher Education, 2002(117)*, 79.
- Chan, W. W. Y. & Dimmock, C. (2008). The internationalization of universities: Globalist, internationalist and translocalist models. *Journal of Research in International Education*, 7(2), 184-204.
- Childress, L. (2009). Internationalization plans for higher education institutions. *Journal of Studies in International Education, 13(3),* 289-309.

Christenson, G. (1988). An overview of one university's efforts to make 'international' central to its mission. *Journal of the Association of International Education Administrators*, 69.

- Connell, C. (2006). *Pathways to internationalization: 2005 Simon award winners*. Washington DC: NAFSA: Association of International Educators.
- Connell, C. (2005). Thinking big on a small campus. International Educator, 14(5).
- Davies, J. (1995). University strategies for internationalisation in different institutional and cultural settings. In P. Bok (Ed.) *Policy and policy implementation in internationalization of higher education*. Amsterdam: European Association for International Education.
- De Wit, H. (1995). Strategies for internationalization of higher education: A comparative study of Australia, Canada, Europe and the United States of America. Amsterdam: European Association for International Education.
- Deardorff, D. (2005). A matter of logic. International Educator, 14(3), 26.
- Engberg, D. & Green, M. (2002). *Promising practices: Spotlighting excellence in comprehensive internationalization*. Washington DC: American Council on Education.
- Flourney, M. (1990). State strategies for international education: The Ohio case. *International Education* Forum, 10(2), 86.
- Green, M. & Barblan, A. (2004). *Higher education in a pluralist world: A transatlantic view*. Washington DC: American Council on Education.
- Green, M. & Olson, C. (2003). *Internationalizing the campus: A user's guide*. Washington DC: American Council on Education.
- Harari, M. & Reiff, R. (1993). Halfway there: A view from the bridge. A model for internationalizing the campus. *International Educator 3(1)*.
- \*Holterman, S. (1996). Strategies for internationalization of higher education: A case study—the Nordic Centre at Fudan University, Shanghai, China. *Higher Education Policy*, *9*, 329.
- Kerrigan, P. (2005). *Twenty ways to strengthen international education on the campus*. Retrieved February 26, 2007 from <u>http://www.iienetwork.org/?p=39510</u>
- Klasek, C. (Ed.) (1992). *Bridges to the future: Strategies for internationalizing higher education*. Carbondale, IL: Association of International Education Administrators.
- Knight, J. (2004). Internationalization remodeled: Definition, approaches, and rationales. *Journal of Studies in International Education 8(1)*, 5-31.
- Kopp, W. (1987). Developing the international dimension on campus: A case study of the Pennsylvania State University. *Journal of the Association of International Education Administrators, Spring*, 249.
- Lim, G. (1995). *Strategy for a global university: A model international department experiment.* Lansing: Michigan State University.
- Mason, R. (1998). Globalizing education: Trends and applications. New York, NY: Routledge. McCarthy, J. (2007). A roadmap for creating the global campus. Chronicle of Higher Education, 53 (43).
- McCoy, C., Plagwitz, E. & Tupper, S. (2005). *The international language and culture floor at Michigan State University*. Retrieved February 26, 2007 from <u>http://www.iienetwork.org/?p=79996</u>
- \*Mestenhauser, J.A. (2011). *Reflections on the past, present, and future of internationalizing higher education: Discovering opportunities to meet challenges*. Minneapolis, MN: Global Programs and Strategy Alliance, University of Minnesota.
- National Association of State Universities and Land Grant Colleges. (2000). *Expanding the international scope of universities: A strategic vision statement for learning, scholarship and engagement in the new century*. Retrieved September 2, 2009 from http://www.aplu.org/NetCommunity/Document.Doc?id=67
- Olson, C., Green, M. & Hill, B. (2006). A handbook for advancing comprehensive internationalization: What institutions can do and what students should learn. Washington DC: American Council on Education.

Olson, C. (2005). Comprehensive internationalization: From principal to practice. *Journal of Public Affairs, 8, 51-74.* 

Olson, C., Green, M. & Hill, B. (2005). *Building a strategic framework for comprehensive internationalization*. Washington DC: American Council on Education.

- Qiang, Z. (2003). Internationalization of higher education: Towards a conceptual framework. *Policy Futures in Education 1(2)*, 248.
- Rudzki, R. (20000. Implementing internationalization: The practical application of the fractal process model. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *4(2)*, 77.
- Rudzki, R. (1995). The application of a strategic management model to the internationalization of higher education institutions. *Higher Education*, 29, 421.
- Robinson, G. (2000). A guide to internationalizing the urban non-residential campus. *The Phi Beta Delta International Review, 10, 49.*
- Sadlak, J. (2001, Fall). Globalization in higher education: Let us do it the smart way. *International Educator*, 36.
- Skolnikoff, E. (1994). Knowledge without borders? Internationalization of the research universities. In J. Cole, E. Barber & S. Graubard (Eds.), *The research university in a time of discontent* (p. 337). Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Taylor, J. (2004). Toward a Strategy for internationalisation: Lessons and practice from four universities. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 8(2), 149-171.
- Warner, G. (1992). Internationalization models and the role of the university. *International Education Magazine*, 1992, 21.

#### **Student Development**

- Allen, G. (2004). *How will internationalization transform our students?* A Report of the NASULGC Task Force on International Education.
- Association of American Colleges and Universities. (2006). *How should colleges prepare students to succeed in today's global economy*? Retrieved March 5, 2007 from http://www.nafsa.org/ /File/ /how should colleges prepare.pdf
- Katz, E. (2007). Creating leaders for tomorrow. International Educator, 16(1), 44-48.
- Matherly, C. & Diane, R. (2000). *Get ready for the global workplace*. Retrieved February 23, 2007 from http://www.black-collegian.com/career/wsj/getready902.shtml
- Mayo, M., Gaventa, J., & Rooke, A. (2009). Learning global citizenship?: Exploring connections between the local and the global. *Education, Citizenship and Social Justice, 4(2),* 161-175.
- McCoy, C., Plagwitz, E. & Tupper, S. (2005). *The international language and culture floor at Michigan State University*. Retrieved February 26, 2007 from <u>http://www.iienetwork.org/?p=79996</u>
- Parsons, R. (2008). The effects of the internationalization of universities on domestic students. *Journal of Studies in International Education, April 24, 2009*, 1-22.
- Zeimis, N. (2006). The intersection of academic advising, study abroad, and career development at the University of MN. Retrieved February 26, 2007 from http://www.umabroad.umn.edu/ci/docs/resources/zeimis.pdf

#### **Tensions & Challenges in the Field**

- Albright, R. (1992). Americans, an international people in need of internationalizing. *International Educator 2(1)*.
- Altbach, P. & Knight, J. (2007). The internationalization of higher education: Motivations and realities. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 11(3/4), 290-305.
- Altbach, P. & Peterson, P. (1998). Internationalize American higher education? Not exactly. *Change*, *30(4)*, 36.

- American Council on Education. (2000). *Globalisation and the university: Challenges for the twentyfirst century*. ACE/CHET Seminar on Globalization: Durban. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Brown, L. (2009). A failure of communication on the cross-cultural campus. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 13(4), 439-454.
- Biddle, S. (2002). *Internationalization: Rhetoric or reality?* American Council of Learned Societies, ACLS Occasional Paper, No 56.
- Bowen, R. (2000). Realizing global education: An immodest proposal. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *4*(2), 69-76.
- Connell, C. (2005). Realizing 'outrageous ambitions'. International Educator, 14(4).
- Dunstan, P. (2001). Internationalizing the student experience: How serious are we? *International Educator*, 10(1).
- Green, M. (2002). Joining the world: The challenge of internationalizing undergraduate education. *Change*, *34(3)*, 12.
- Hanson, K. & Meyerson, J. (Eds.). (1995). International challenges to American colleges and universities: Looking ahead. Phoenix, AZ: Oryx Press.
- Marcum, J. (2001). Eliminate the roadblocks. Chronicle of Higher Education, The Chronicle Review, B7.
- Marlin, N. (2005). *Should we be institutionalized?* Retrieved February 26, 2007 from http://www.iienetwork.org/page/84659.
- McRobbie, M. (2008, Fall). Meeting the challenges of 21<sup>st</sup> Century globalization. *The Presidency*, 19-26.
- Neave, G. (1996). Academic freedom and university autonomy: An abiding concern. *Higher Education Policy*, 9(4), 263-266.
- Paige, R. M. (2003). The American case: The University of Minnesota. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 7(1), 52.
- Scott, R. (1992). Campus developments in response to the challenges of internationalization: The case of Ramapo College of New Jersey (USA). General Conference, Programme on Institutional Management in Higher Education of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, Paris, France.
- Scott, P. (Ed.) (1998). *The globalization of higher education*. Buckingham: The Society for Research into Higher Education & Open University Press.
- Van Damme, D. (2001). Quality issues in the internationalization of higher education. *Higher Education*, *41*, 415-441.
- Van Damme, D. (2001). Higher education in the age of globalization: The need for a new regulatory framework for recognition, quality, assurance and accreditation. *Introductory Paper for the* UNESCO Expert Meeting, Paris, 10-11 September 2001.
- Van de Water, J. (1997). Gaps in the bridge to the twenty-first century: The customer is always right. *International Educator*, 6(3), 10-15.
- Van der Wende, M. (2007). Internationalization of higher education in the OECD countries: Challenges and opportunities for the coming decade. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *11 (3/4)*, 274-289.
- Wallraff, B. (2000). What Global Language? The Atlantic Monthly, November, 2000.